# FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAR 13 1995

(2hlef Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 84,909

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

DARREL JENNINGS,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS**

BENNETT H. BRUMMER Public Defender **Eleventh Judicial Circuit** of Florida 1320 Northwest 14th Street Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 545-1958

LOUIS CAMPBELL Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 0833320

Counsel for Respondent

## **

#### **INTRODUCTION**

The respondent, Darrel Jennings, was the defendant in the trial court and the appellee in the district court of appeal. The petitioner, the State of Florida, was the prosecution in the trial court and the appellant in the district court of appeal. This brief refers to the parties as the "defendant" and the "state." The symbols "T." and "R." denote, respectively, the transcript of the proceedings in the trial court and the remainder of the record on appeal.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The respondent adds the following to the petitioner's statement of the case and facts:

The initial observation of the alleged marijuana cigarette was made with the aid of binoculars. The officers were in an unmarked car, watching a park, when they saw the defendant enter a car as a passenger, and ride towards a 7-11 store. The defendant appeared to be holding a marijuana cigarette. The defendant got out of the car and stood in front of the 7-11, studying his palm. One of the officers approached. As he neared the defendant, the officer saw what appeared to be loose cocaine rocks in the defendant's palm. The officer shouted "police" and the defendant tossed the suspect rocks into his mouth and swallowed. (R. 17-18).

#### QUESTION PRESENTED

THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY HELD THAT THE DEFENDANT DID NOT TAMPER WITH EVIDENCE, AND ITS DECISION IS NOT IN CONFLICT WITH HAYES v. STATE, 634 So. 2d 1153 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), OR OTHER DECISIONS OF THE DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL OR THIS COURT, BECAUSE AT THE TIME THE DEFENDANT SWALLOWED THE ALLEGED COCAINE ROCKS HE WAS NEITHER UNDER ARREST NOR DID HE KNOW THAT A LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER WAS ABOUT TO INSTIGATE AN INVESTIGATION. (Restated).

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Tampering with physical evidence is a crime that requires knowledge and specific intent. It is not enough to show that the defendant destroyed something that an officer believed to be evidence. There must be proof that the defendant knew that a proceeding or investigation was pending or about to be instituted, and that the thing was destroyed with the specific intent to "impair its verity or availability in such proceeding or investigation." § 918.13(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1993);

In the present case, the evidence did not establish the requisite knowledge of a pending investigation or the specific intent to make evidence unavailable in that investigation. The defendant was not under arrest at the time he swallowed the alleged cocaine rocks. Nor was he told that he was suspected of possessing drugs. Shouting "police" could not, without more, put the defendant on notice that he was under arrest, or under investigation for the possession of drugs, and therefore could not establish that he swallowed the alleged cocaine rocks with the specific intent to make them unavailable in such investigation, as required by the statute.

The fact that the defendant was not told that he was under arrest or investigation for possession of drugs distinguishes this case from *McKenzie v. State*, 632 So. 2d 276 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), *Hayes v. State*, 634 So. 2d 1153 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), and *McKinney v. State*, 640 So. 2d 1183 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994). In those cases, unlike here, the defendant had either been told that he was under arrest for possession of cocaine, or he was fleeing from officers who were attempting to arrest him for the possession of cocaine. Since in *McKenzie*, *Hayes*, and *McKinney*, the defendants knew that the officers were arresting them for possession of cocaine, it could be inferred that the destruction or attempted destruction of the cocaine was done with the specific intent of making it unavailable at trial. Here, the evidence permits no such inference because the defendant was

neither under arrest nor told that he was the subject of an investigation for possession of drugs. As the Third District correctly held, this evidence did not establish the crime of tampering with evidence. There is no conflict between this case and any decision of the district courts of appeal or of this Court.

#### ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY HELD THAT THE DEFENDANT DID NOT TAMPER WITH EVIDENCE, AND ITS DECISION IS NOT IN CONFLICT WITH HAYES v. STATE, 634 So. 2d 1153 (Fia. 4th DCA 1994), OR OTHER DECISIONS OF THE DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL OR THIS COURT, BECAUSE AT THE TIME THE DEFENDANT SWALLOWED THE ALLEGED COCAINE ROCKS HE WAS NEITHER UNDER ARREST NOR DID HE KNOW THAT A LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER WAS ABOUT TO INSTIGATE AN INVESTIGATION. (Restated).

Tampering with physical evidence is a crime that requires knowledge and specific intent. State v. News-Press Publishing Co., 338 So. 2d 1313, 1318-19 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976); Rader v. State, 420 So. 2d 110, 111 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982); McNeil v. State, 438 So. 2d 960, 962 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983). Section 918.13(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1993), which defines this third-degree felony, provides:

- (1) No person, knowing that a criminal trial or proceeding or an investigation by a duly constituted prosecuting authority, law enforcement agency, grand jury or legislative committee of this state is pending or is about to be instituted, shall:
- (a) Alter, destroy, conceal or remove any record, document, or thing with the purpose to impair its verity or availability in such proceeding or investigation;

To obtain a conviction under this statute it is not enough to show that the defendant destroyed something that an officer believed to be evidence. There must be proof that the defendant (1) knew that a proceeding or investigation was pending or about to be instituted, and (2) that the thing was destroyed with the specific intent to "impair its verity or availability in such proceeding or investigation." § 918.13(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1993); see News-Press Publishing Co., 338 So. 2d at 1318-19; McNeil, 438 So. 2d at 962.

In the present case, the defendant was observed holding what law enforcement officers believed was a marijuana cigarette. As one of the officers

approached the defendant, the officer also saw what appeared to be loose cocaine rocks in the defendant's palm. When the officer shouted "police," the defendant put the alleged cocaine rocks into his mouth and swallowed. The defendant was then arrested but the objects he swallowed were never recovered. (R. 17-18).

This evidence was insufficient to sustain a conviction for tampering with evidence because it did not establish the requisite knowledge of a pending investigation or the specific intent to make evidence unavailable in that investigation. The defendant was not under arrest at the time he swallowed the alleged cocaine rocks. Nor was he told that he was suspected of possessing drugs. The initial surveillance took place at a distance, with the aid of binoculars, and there was no evidence that the defendant knew of the police presence until the officer shouted "police." Shouting "police" could not, without more, put the defendant on notice that he was under arrest, or under investigation. It certainly did not tell him that he was under investigation for the possession of drugs and therefore could not establish that he swallowed the suspect cocaine rocks with the specific intent to make them unavailable in "such" investigation.

The defendant was not under arrest at the time he swallowed the alleged cocaine rocks because, as the Third District noted, the officers had not even reached him at that time, *State v. Jennings*, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D2600, 2600 (Fla. 3d DCA Dec. 14, 1994), and because even if the officers' intended to arrest him, the shout of "police," was insufficient to communicate that intent to the defendant, *see Melton v. State*, 75 So. 2d 291, 294 (Fla. 1954) (elements of an an arrest include an intent to arrest, a seizure of the person to be arrested, "[a] communication by the arresting officer to the person whose arrest is sought of an intention or purpose then and there to effect an arrest," and "[a]n understanding by the person whose arrest is sought that it is the intention of the arresting officer then

and there to arrest and detain him"); State v. Williams, 462 So. 2d 69, 72 (Fla. 1st DCA) (although officers blocked-in defendant's vehicle and ordered him to open safe found in trunk, defendant was neither effectively nor actually under arrest at the time of the search because there was no evidence that the officers intended to arrest defendant, or had communicated such an intent to defendant, or that defendant understood that to be their intention), review denied, 476 So. 2d 676 (Fla. 1985).

Indeed a shout of "police" cannot establish, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the defendant knew he was the subject of an investigatory stop. Such an announcement might be interpreted as a command to stop, but it could also support a contrary view. See Hollinger v. State, 620 So. 2d 1242, 1243 (Fla. 1993). Accordingly, it was insufficient to establish the essential element of knowledge that an investigation was about to be instituted. See State v. Law, 559 So. 2d 187, 188-89 (Fla. 1989) ("Where the only proof of guilt is circumstantial, no matter how strongly the evidence may suggest guilt, a conviction cannot be sustained unless the evidence is inconsistent with any reasonable hypothesis of innocence."); McArthur v. State, 351 So. 2d 972 (Fla. 1977) (applying circumstantial evidence standard to proof of intent).

Moreover, even if, arguendo, the shout of "police" could be deemed sufficient evidence of the defendant's knowledge that he had been stopped, it did not tell the defendant that he was under investigation for the possession of drugs and therefore could not establish that he swallowed the suspect cocaine rocks with the specific intent to make them unavailable in "such" investigation, as required by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>See also Ellis v. State, 346 So. 2d 1044, 1047 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977) (where the material facts are undisputed, the trial court in considering a motion to dismiss must determine whether the undisputed facts raise a jury question, in much the same manner as a judge evaluates a motion for judgment of acquital made at trial).

the statute, see §918.13(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1993).

Contrary to the state's argument (Brief of Petitioner at 11), it is not enough that the defendant be on notice that he is about to be stopped and questioned. The statute requires a specific intent to render evidence unavailable in a particular investigation which is either pending or about to be instituted. The defendant cannot have that specific intent unless he knows what sort of thing might constitute evidence in that investigation, and he cannot know that unless he knows what sort of criminal activity the police are investigating. This follows from the plain language of the statute: The thing must be destroyed with the purpose to impair its verity or availability in "such proceeding or investigation," i.e., the proceeding or investigation of whose pendency the defendant is aware. § 918.13(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1993). If there is any ambiguity, it must be resolved in favor of the defendant. § 775.021(1), Fla. Stat. (1993); *Boice v. State*, 560 So. 2d 1383, 1384 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990).

Since the defendant was not told that he was under arrest, it cannot be assumed that he believed he was about to be subjected to a generalized search for drugs or for whatever other evidence of criminal activity he might have on his person, see United States v. Robinson, 414 U.S. 218, 94 S.Ct. 467, 38 L.Ed.2d 427 (1973) (police may search the person incident to arrest to disarm and to discover evidence), or that the articles in his possession had come into the custody of the police, cf. Brown v. State, 575 So. 2d 1360 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) (picking up and attempting to conceal cocaine rock which police officer had taken from a codefendant and which was in the custody of the officer constituted tampering because "[o]nce the officer had taken the evidence into his custody, the defendant was not entitled to remove it"); Gilbert v. State, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D1138 (Fla. 2d DCA May 18, 1994) (removing and throwing away bag of marijuana which the police had seized during a consensual search of the vehicle driven by defendant

constituted tampering with evidence because the contraband was in the physical custody of the police).

The mere act of stopping someone does not inform the person stopped of the nature of the police investigation. An investigatory stop, unlike an arrest, does not entitle the officers to search for anything except, in some circumstances, weapons. See Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968)... A shout of "police" gives no clue as to what sort of activity the police are investigating, or what sort of evidence they are after, and therefore cannot, without more, establish the knowledge and specific intent required under the statute.

The fact that the defendant was not told that he was under arrest or investigation for possession of drugs distinguishes this case from *McKenzie v. State*, 632 So. 2d 276 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), *Hayes v. State*, 634 So. 2d 1153 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), and *McKinney v. State*, 640 So. 2d 1183 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994), where convictions for tampering or attempted tampering were upheld based on the defendant's act of getting rid of suspect cocaine. Unlike in this case, in those cases the defendant had either been told that he was under arrest for possession of cocaine, or he was fleeing from officers who were attempting to arrest him for the possession of cocaine. In *McKenzie*, the defendant swallowed the suspect cocaine after an officer "identified himself and told defendant he was under arrest for possession of cocaine." *McKenzie* at 276. In *Hayes*, the defendant dropped a baggie containing crack cocaine into a drainage outlet, "while being pursued by a police officer attempting to arrest him ...." *Hayes* at 1154. In *McKinney*, the defendant fled after selling cocaine to an undercover officer and attempted to eat a bag of cocaine during a struggle with the arresting officers. *McKinney* at 1183-84.

Since in *McKenzie*, *Hayes*, and *McKinney*, the defendants knew that the officers were arresting them for possession of cocaine, it could be inferred that the

destruction or attempted destruction of the cocaine was done with the specific intent of making it unavailable at trial. Here, the evidence permits no such inference because the defendant was neither under arrest nor told that he was the subject of an investigation for possession of drugs. As the Third District correctly held, this evidence did not establish the crime of tampering with evidence. *State v. Jennings*, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D2600, 2600 (Fla. 3d DCA Dec. 14, 1994). There is no conflict between this case and *Hayes*, *McKenzie*, or *McKinney*.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing argument and authorities, the respondent requests this Court to deny review because there is no conflict, or, in the alternative, to affirm the decision of the district court of appeal.