FILED

SID J. WHITE

FEB 6 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clark

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 84,909 DCA NO. 94-617

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

-vs-

DARREL JENNINGS,

Respondent.

ON APPLICATION FOR DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General

CONSUELO MAINGOT

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0897612 Office of the Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs Post Office Box 013241 Miami, Florida 33101 (305) 377-5441

INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner, the STATE OF FLORIDA, was the prosecution in the trial court and the appellant in the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Third District. The Respondent, DARREL JENNINGS, was the defendant in the trial court and the appellee in the District Court of Appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On April 23, 1993, an Information was filed against the Respondent charging him with Tampering with Physical Evidence (Count I), Resisting an Officer Without Violence (Count II), and Unlawful Possession of Cannabis (Count III) in violation of §§ 918.13(1)(a), 843.02 and 893.13(1)(g), Fla. Stat. (1993). (R. 1-5).

On January 18, 1994, the Respondent filed a Sworn Motion to Dismiss. (R. 17). In the motion the Respondent represented the following undisputed facts: that he was observed holding what law enforcement officers believed was a marijuana cigarette; that as one of the officers approached him, the officer also saw what appeared to be loose cocaine rocks in his palm; that when the officer shouted "police," he put the alleged cocaine rocks into his mouth and swallowed; that he was then arrested but the objects he swallowed were never recovered. (R. 17-18).

On February 5, 1994, the Honorable W. Thomas Spencer granted the Respondent's sworn motion to dismiss. (T. 33, R. 24-25). Specifically, in its written findings of fact and order of law, the trial court substantially accepted the facts alleged in the sworn motion but found the facts were insufficient to establish that the defendant's conduct violated the section of the Florida Statutes proscribing tampering with evidence by altering,

destroying, concealing or removing any thing with the purpose of impairing its verity or availability for a criminal proceeding or investigation. (R. 25). The Respondent entered a plea of nolo contendere to Counts II and III. (R. 20). Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal. (R. 26).

The Third District Court of Appeal affirmed the dismissal of the charge of tampering with physical evidence, but certified any conflict with <u>Hayes v. State</u>, 634 So. 2d 1153 (Fla. 4th DCA) rev. denied, No., 83-942 (Fla. Aug. 30 1994). Petitioner filed a notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction on December 20, 1994. On January 6, 1995, this Court entered an order postponing its decision on jurisdiction, ordering the Petitioner to file a brief on the merits.

QUESTION PRESENTED

WHETHER THE DECISION IN STATE v. JENNINGS, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D2600 (Fla. 3d DCA December 14, 1994), CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN HAYES v. STATE, 634 So. 2d 1153 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), WITH OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL AND THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT ON THE ISSUE OF WHETHER SWALLOWING COCAINE ROCKS IN THE PRESENCE OF THE ARRESTING OFFICER CONSTITUTES TAMPERING WITH PHYSICAL EVIDENCE?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

By affirming the trial court's dismissal of the charge of tampering with evidence on grounds that the act of swallowing cocaine rocks did not rise to the level contemplated in section 918.13 of the Florida Statutes, the Third District Court of Appeal is in direct conflict with this Court and other district courts of appeal. This Court and other district courts of appeal have determined that defendants who attempted to swallow alleged cocaine rocks after their arrest had committed the crime of tampering with evidence.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION IN STATE v. JENNINGS, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D2600 (Fla. 3d DCA December 14, 1994), CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN HAYES v. STATE, 634 So. 2d 1153 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL AND THE FLORIDA **ISSUE** SUPREME COURT ON THE OF SWALLOWING COCAINE ROCKS IN THE PRESENCE OF THE ARRESTING OFFICER CONSTITUTES TAMPERING WITH PHYSICAL EVIDENCE.

From the facts of this case it is apparent that the Third District Court of Appeal affirmed dismissal of the charge of tampering with evidence for two reasons. First, the District Court states that the Respondent was not under arrest because the officer had not even reached the Respondent before he put the alleged cocaine rocks in his mouth. Secondly, the Respondent did not know that a law enforcement officer was about to instigate an investigation, and was therefore not tampering with evidence when The Third District Court swallowed the crack cocaine. distinguishes this case from other cases where the courts have determined that defendants who swallow alleged cocaine rocks after their arrest had committed the crime of tampering with Presumably, then, the Third District Court evidence. determined that the proscriptions of the statute applicable except when a person is under arrest. This is clearly not the case.

Section 918.13, Florida Statutes, in pertinent part provides,

- (1) No person, knowing that . . . an investigation by a duly constituted . . . law enforcement agency . . . of this state is spending or about to be instituted, shall:
- (a) Alter, destroy, conceal, or remove any record, document or thing with the purpose to impair its verity or availability in such proceeding or investigation.

§918.13, Fla. Stat. (1993). If the circumstances which indicate an arrest include blocking of an individual's path or the impeding of his progress and are such that an encounter has become too intrusive to be classified as investigative detention, then shouting "police" at an individual is sufficient to put that person on notice that he is the subject and focus of an investigatory encounter with the authorities so announced. United States v. Hastamorir, 881 F.2d 1551 (11 Cir. 1993).

In the instant case, the Respondent represented in his sworn motion to dismiss and attested to the facts stated therein, that the officer approached him on the sidewalk and that the officer announced that he was the police before the Respondent tossed the alleged crack cocaine into his mouth and attempted to swallow it. He even began to choke but continued to swallow as he broke free of the police hold. The officer's announcement that he was the police clearly was an impediment to his progress and certainly was sufficient to put the Respondent on notice that he was the

focus of an investigatory stop. Therefore, the argument that shouting "police," without more, is insufficient to put the defendant on notice that an investigation was about to be instigated, is in conflict with the laws of Florida. Section 918.13, Fla. Stat. only requires that the person know that "an investigation by a duly constituted. . . law enforcement agency. . . of this state is pending" in order to punish alteration, destruction concealment, or removal of evidence.

Florida courts have interpreted the statute so as to not criminalize conduct which results in the suspect evidence being thrown away. See, Munroe v. State, 629 So. 2d 263 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993) (Defendant's act of stuffing small white tube containing cocaine away from his person at scene of arrest did not rise to level of conduct contemplated by section 918.13); Jones v. State, 590 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (Act of putting cocaine in pocket does not rise to level of conduct contemplated by Thomas v. State, 581 So. 2d 993 (Fla. 2d DCA section 918.13); 1991) (Defendant's act of throwing plastic bag filled with marijuana away from himself did not rise to level of conduct contemplated by section 918.13); Boice v. State, 560 So. 2d 1383 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990) (Defendant's act of tossing small bag of cocaine away from his person while in the presence of arresting officers at scene of purchase did not rise to level of conduct contemplated by section 918.13).

In such situations, the courts' focus has remained on the fact that the act of throwing something away does not manifest an intent to "impair its availability for trial." <u>Jones v. State</u>, 590 So. 2d 984. Regardless of whether the evidence is later recovered for trial, the defendants' conduct in these cases was not such that it would impair the evidence.

However, the courts have been clear that when defendants try to somehow alter or impair the objects, they are punishable under section 918.13 regardless of how analogous their actions may be to throwing the objects away. For example, in Hayes v.
State, the Fourth District Court of Appeal held that throwing a 'baggie' into a drainage outlet was punishable under section 918.13. Hayes v.State, 634 So. 2d 1153, 1154 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994). The court relied on it's earlier holding in MacKenzie v.State, 632 So. 2d 276 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994). In MacKenzie, the defendant placed several (five or six) rocklike objects into his mouth, chewed and swallowed. The Fourth District upheld the conviction stating,

Although neither side has cited any case in which the precise issue of whether swallowing and thus destroying a substance is tampering with evidence, we have no trouble concluding that it is.

MacKenzie v. State, 632 So. 2d 277.

In the case *sub judice*, the Respondent placed the suspect cocaine rocks into his mouth and swallowed. By placing the crack cocaine in his mouth and swallowing, the Respondent's intent was to "alter its availability for trial" in violation of section 918.13. It is beyond logic to think that putting a known soluble substance, such as crack cocaine, in contact with the natural enzymes of the saliva in the Respondent's mouth, would not irrevocably alter and impair the substance for use at trial. Even if it were retrieved, it would have been altered and impaired because it was not contained in a baggie, in contrast to Hayes, where the crack cocaine was thrown into the drainage outlet inside a baggie and was later recovered. Hayes v. State, 634 So. 2d 1154.

Moreover, prior physical custody of the evidence is unnecessary to punish under the statute. However, compare, Gilbert v. State, 19 Fla. L. Weekly D1138 (Fla. 2d DCA May 18, 1994) (Defendant who was in the rear seat of a vehicle searching for something, was properly chargeable under section 918.13 when a baggie with marijuana, which was originally on the rear seat and in the constructive possession of the police, was later recovered by the police across the road ten feet away with a hole in it). In Gilbert, the Second District focused on law enforcement's physical possession of the baggie in order to establish the defendant's possession of the contraband, not for the proposition that physical custody of the evidence by law

enforcement is a condition precedent to a tampering with evidence charge.

Therefore, the Respondent, having heard the officer shout "police" was on notice that he was about to be stopped and questioned, and his act of tossing the alleged crack cocaine into his mouth where it would dissolve and be swallowed so as to be beyond the reach of the authorities, was an act of intentional impairment of the evidence. The Third District Court of Appeal incorrectly affirmed the trial court's dismissal of the charge of tampering with evidence, and its decision conflicts with the Fourth District Court of Appeal on the same issue. Hayes v. State, 634 So. 2d 1154.

CONCLUSION

In light of the foregoing argument and citations of authority, the State respectfully requests this Court to quash the decision under review and remand the matter to the trial court with directions to reinstate the charge of tampering with evidence.